
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Tuesday, 8 
February 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Street Cleansing Digitisation Update (Pages 11 - 18)

6. Waste Communication Campaigns Update (Pages 19 - 32)

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 



included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in private 

None

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 16 November 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley 
Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle
Jordan Meade

Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive 
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services)
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Joel Simons Waste Projects & Compliance Officer
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

15. Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding and Cllr Jordan Meade 
attended as his substitute. 

16. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 22 September 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

17. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an interest in Item 5 Taxi Tariff as he was a taxi driver in the 
Borough. 

18. Taxi Tariff 

The Committee were presented with the outcome of the recent consultation with 
Gravesham-licenced Hackney Carriage drivers on the bi-annual taxi tariff review. 

The Regulatory Services Manager guided Members thorough the report and gave some 
background information on the consultation with the taxi trade and the outcome of that 
consultation. 

The Committee noted that by the end of the consultation period a total of 65 drivers had 
responded, which represented 40% of the taxi trade. A summary of the responses to the 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

2

consultation was listed at 2.4 of the report but 66.2% of drivers who responded were in 
favour of an increase to the flag with the single most popular option being to increase the 
flag by 20p to £3.00. 

The Regulatory Services Manager advised that for the purposes of benchmarking, the table 
at 3.4 of the report showed where Gravesham would sit in the league table based on each of 
the four consultation options set out in section 1.3 of this report. The Committee were 
reminded that the results were indicative only and based on all other Council’s tariffs 
remaining the same, which was unlikely to happen in practice.

In response to a Member’s question, the Regulatory Services Manager explained that the 
Taxi policy required all taxi drivers to be dressed reasonably smartly; it was agreed that the 
Licensing Team would send all drivers a polite reminder to dress reasonably smartly while 
working. 

Members were in general agreement with the option of increasing the flag by 20p to £3.00 
noting the rising living cost, increased fuel costs, the number of people who used taxis and 
ensuring that all customers were receiving an efficient and safe service. 

The Chair agreed with Cllr Meade and asked that it be minuted that the local taxi service 
should be widely promoted by the Council as the safest and most reliable form of taxi 
transport in Gravesham. 

It was agreed that: 

 The Portfolio Holder would approve any changes recommended under their  
delegated powers as set out in Annex 1.6 of the Council’s Constitution and authorise 
the Regulatory Services Manager to proceed with and complete the tariff-setting 
process 

 Members endorsed the next review of the tariff to commence no later than autumn 
2023 in accordance with the previously agreed two-yearly timetable 

19. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 

The Committee were presented with the proposed amendments to the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy and the associated consultation methodology. 

The Regulatory Services Manager outlined key points from the report concerning the 
proposed policy revisions for: 

 Vehicle Emissions 

- From 1 April 2025, all vehicle licence applications for newly licenced vehicles (i.e. 
all applications other than those to ‘renew’ an existing vehicle licence for the 
same vehicle by the same holder) must be for vehicles that are powered wholly 
by electricity.

- From 1 April 2030, all vehicle licence applications must be for vehicles that are 
powered wholly by electricity. 

 Vehicle Inspections and MOT Tests 

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

3

- All additional MOT tests currently required by the Council beyond those required 
by Road Traffic legislation (i.e. when vehicles are 1, 1 ½, 2 and 2 ½ years old, 
and then at the 6-month point between each annual MOT), will be replaced with a 
safety and standards inspection, to be carried out by appropriately qualified 
technicians at the council’s vehicle workshop located at the Brookvale Depot, or 
such other place as the council may reasonably require.

- All routine vehicle licensing inspections (e.g. the application inspections carried 
out as part of new applications and annual renewal applications thereafter) 
currently carried out by Licensing Officers, will instead be carried out by 
technicians at the council’s vehicle workshop located at the Brookvale Depot.

The Chair asked that Members consider the proposed policy revision concerning Vehicle 
Emissions first and asked for questions. 

The Regulatory Services Manager fielded questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 There were currently no grants or incentives available that could be given to taxi 
drivers from the Council for moving over to electric vehicles but in the future, the 
Licensing Team could take that into account when setting the annual licence fee 
provisions 

 It was expected that existing drivers would probably renew their licence with a 
petrol or diesel vehicle just before the 2025 deadline in order to benefit from 
using that vehicle right up to 2030. The Licensing Team were happy that there 
wouldn’t be a significant burden on the existing trade with the proposed policy 
revisions 

 It was possible that some new drivers may be deterred by the electric vehicle 
provision but it was a route that most Councils were following so there wouldn’t 
be many alternatives for new taxi drivers anywhere else.  In addition, any new 
drivers considering coming into the trade for the first time would be making that 
decision in the knowledge of the electric vehicle requirements. All vehicles would 
eventually have to move over to electric; statistically there had been a 66% 
growth in the sales of electric vehicle since 2019 

 Work is currently underway to find a dedicated area solely for taxis to charge their 
vehicles; the local taxi trade would be consulted on the decision 

The Committee raised concerns about:

 Implementing the policy without having satisfactory infrastructure in place; a fully 
electric taxi service would require electric charging points in the Town Centre as 
many drivers wouldn’t be able to charge their vehicles at home 

 The amount of charging points that would be available and the policy for using them; 
if there were too few then all of the taxi drivers wouldn’t be able to charge their 
vehicles and a number of drivers would lose out on business 

The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive explained that the Council had a 
carbon neutral pledge to reach by 2030 so it was important to have targets in place to help 
achieve that goal.  In response to concerns over infrastructure, the speed at which electric 
cars were being manufactured was increasing every year and the Council were working with 
local partnerships and the Energy Saving Trust to ensure that there were sufficient electric 
charging points in the town centre within the next few years.  By 2025, Gravesham would 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

4

have enough electric infrastructure in place to allow taxi drivers to charge their vehicles in 
the town centre. 

In response to the logistical issue of too few charging points, the Director (Environment) & 
Deputy Chief Executive explained that the number of charging points and their locations 
were key areas that the Parking & Environment Enforcement Services Manager and his 
colleagues were looking into and would take into consideration. 

The Regulatory Services Manager agreed to circulate information outside of the Committee 
identifying how many new taxi drivers Gravesham registered on average and local turnover. 

The Chair asked that Members consider the proposed policy revision concerning Vehicle 
Inspections & MOT’s and asked for questions. 

The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive and the Regulatory Services Manager 
fielded questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 The additional inspections of taxi vehicles at the Brookvale Depot would be 
completed by Rosherville Servicing Limited. The Safety and Standards Inspection 
would cover all the points in a regular MOT plus a number of other checks which 
enhanced the service 

 Some taxi drivers may have deals with local garages where they would get a slightly 
better quote than at the depot but Rosherville Servicing Limited would never charge 
higher than the Government maximum rate for an MOT. There may be a £5-£10 
disparity between local garage prices and Rosherville prices but it was considered 
that the additional safety and standards checks were important in helping to raise the 
standards of the service to taxi customers in the long run

 There were 183 licensed taxi vehicles working in the Borough; some taxi drivers had 
more than one licensed vehicle 

 The depot had checked their capacity and were confident that they could 
accommodate two visits from each of the 183 vehicles every year.  An online booking 
system would be made available for taxi drivers to book their vehicles in for MOT’s 
and inspections; the booking system would give them the added benefit of choosing 
when they wanted to bring the vehicle in which had less of an impact on their 
business.  It would also be possible to make bookings by telephone.  It was hoped 
that many taxi drivers would also take their vehicles in for their annual MOT and 
service as well 

 The report had been submitted to legal before submission to this Committee and 
legal were happy with the proposals and content; Legal confirmed that the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 stated that Councils could lawfully 
specify where taxi and private hire vehicles had to go for inspections. It was only 
unlawful for Councils to specify where those vehicles had to go for their annual MOT 
which was not being proposed. Taxi Drivers could take their vehicles for an MOT to 
any establishment they wanted to  

Cllr Meade asked that, moving forward, any report that referenced Rosherville Servicing 
Limited or included work that was being undertaken by Rosherville Servicing Limited should 
be included in some form within Appendix 1 to the report. Some Board Members may have 
to declare an interest and having Rosherville referenced in Appendix 1 would make it more 
transparent. 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

5

The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive advised that he had checked before 
the meeting if any Member of the Committee needed to declare an interest due to 
Rosherville and he explained that the work of Rosherville would be made more explicit in 
future reports.

Cllr Meade described a recent journey he had via taxi in Coventry where the taxi vehicle had 
an A4 sized laminate style sign on the back of the driver’s seat which outlined the cost of 
each fare, the charge for any passenger vomiting in the taxi, important objectives for the 
local authority such as no journey was too short and a QR code which led to an online 
Council survey that asked for passenger feedback on what was good about the taxi ride and 
what was not. Cllr Meade asked if something similar could be done in Gravesham as it 
allowed residents to provide vital feedback to the Council.  

The Regulatory Services Manager advised that it sounded like a good idea for the service 
and agreed to raise the idea with the Digital team to see if a survey could be created and 
look into the creation of a sign. The Committee was advised that Gravesham taxi drivers all 
had copies of their tariff cards, which were available on request.  

The Regulatory Services Manager explained that once the Policy went to wider consultation 
including the public as well as the local trade, the results would be collated and brought back 
to the Committee with recommendations. The report submitted to that meeting would ask the 
Committee to make the final recommendation for the Chair to sign the Policy and bring it  
into effect. 

The Chair, as Portfolio Holder for Operational Services Cabinet Committee, agreed: 

1) To apply a 20p increase to the Flag of the taxi tariff.
2) That the Regulatory Services Manager will proceed with and complete the tariff 

setting process in the minimum timeframe allowed by legislation.
3) That the next review of the taxi tariff shall commence no later than autumn 2023 in 

accordance with the previously agreed two-yearly timetable.

The Chair thanked the Committee for their comments. 

20. Street Champions and Great British Spring Clean Update 

The Committee was presented with a report on the Street Champions initiative and the Great 
British Spring Clean. 

The Waste & Compliance Officer updated Members on the improvements made to volunteer 
litter picking activities in the Borough through the 'Street Champions' initiative, which 
launched in January 2020, outlined key figures from the report and also provided Members 
with an update on the proposed future developments to the scheme. 

Members were also given an overview of the Ward Co-Ordinator role and informed that all 
Members were welcome to volunteer to be Ward Co-Ordinators for their respective Wards. 

In response to Members questions, the Waste & Compliance Officer and the Director 
(Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive explained that: 

 As part of the Street Champion initiative, the volunteers report to the Council on a 
monthly basis which gives the team data at Ward level but it would be too difficult to 

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

6

track street level data due to the amount of streets volunteers may clean. The first 
data reported to the team was being counted and would be reported in December; 
that data would show the team who made the report and what they reported i.e. how 
much rubbish did they collect. Using that data, the team would be able to see what 
individuals had worked really hard and options would be explored in the future as to 
how to reward individual. Further reports would be brought to the Committee on the 
work of the street champions in the future  

 The Waste & Compliance Officer advised instructions on what vegetation could be 
cut back, when it should be cut back and where the vegetation waste should go could 
be circulated to the Street Champions outside of the meeting 

 The Street Champion webpage and subsequent communications with volunteers will 
clarify that volunteers are able to do as little or as much as volunteer activity as they 
wish - there are no set hours for volunteers to commit to.All of the information and 
data that is collected from the Street Champions would be shared with all Members 
as well as local rubbish pick up events around the Borough; all Members will be 
made aware even if it isn’t in their ward. If no Member wanted to be a Ward Co-
Ordinator in a certain ward then officers would still approve equipment and share 
information directly with the Street Champion volunteers for that ward. It was hoped 
that many Members would become involved in some way and to have at least one 
dedicated Ward Co-Ordinator in each ward 

Members raised the point that many wards had more than one Member and each had 
different roles; ward Members could nominate one Member from  each ward to be the Ward–
Co-Ordinator. 

After further discussion, the Chair advised that he would draft a letter to all Members 
explaining the role of the Ward Co-Ordinator and ask for nominations.  The Chair advised 
that he would send the letter to Cllr Meade first. 

The Committee congratulated the street champions and applauded the level of work they 
had put into clearing rubbish off the street in their own time; the Chair asked that 
Communications be worked with to highlight their successes. 

Members endorsed the proposal to introduce a Ward Co-Ordinator role for Members, as set 
out within the report. 

21. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2021-22 

The Committee were presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2021-22 
(July to September 2021).

Appendix Two to the report provided Members of the Operational Services Committee with a 
statistical overview of the Council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 
2021-22, covering the period July to September 2021. 

The Chair went through the report page by page and asked for Member discussion on the 
performance indicators.  

Cllr Ridgers noted the improvement in PI 4 - % of broadly compliant food establishments and 
the Regulatory Services Manager explained that businesses were recovering from the 
pandemic and it was likely that those figures would continue to improve. 

Page 8



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2021

7

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:44pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 8th February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Environment)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Street Cleansing Digitisation Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update regarding digital improvements to the Street Cleansing 
Service.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Context

1.1 The Bartec Collective system has been operational within the refuse & recycling, 
garden waste and trade waste collection services since April 2019.  

1.2 The system has transformed the waste & recycling service and provided residents 
with more information.  

1.3 Work is being undertaken to digitise the Street Cleansing operation.  Two key 
projects are being undertaken to achieve this aim:

 the implementation of the Bartec Street Cleansing Module, and;

 the trial of Enevo litter bin fill-level sensors.

2. Bartec Street Cleansing Module

2.1 To modernise and develop the street cleansing service, the Bartec Street 
Cleansing module is currently being added to the existing waste & recycling 
Bartec system.

2.2 The Street Cleansing module will deliver the following improvements: 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

 Removal of paper schedules - Each cleansing role will have a digital work 
pack where work will be marked off once completed. This will allow the 
Managers to monitor work throughout the day and provide an audit trail of 
work completed. It will also allow for new service requests to be 
immediately allocated to the relevant crew rather than through a phone 
call or a paper job ticket that would normally be allocated the next working 
day. 

 Real-time customer updates - Customers will be able to receive real-time 
updates when a job is completed by the crews. 

 Litter bins - The system will map the locations of the litter bins, log when 
the bins have been emptied, the capacity when emptied and record 
defects such as graffiti and can include a picture. This will enable the 
emptying regimes to be revised dependant on the fill level over time and 
defects to be rectified. 

 Fly-tipping - The system will facilitate dynamic routing of flytipping 
removals, photos before and after the job, instantaneous completion of the 
job on the system which will update the person who has reported the 
issue. This will replace the current manual system of the Waste 
Management Team updating the Dash system once the waste is 
removed. 

 Improved Reporting - Street Cleansing staff will be able to immediately 
report any issues they witness on their rounds as a service request to be 
rectified, such as graffiti. 

 Bulky Collections - The system will deliver dynamic routing of the bulky 
waste collections and will immediately update the customer once the job 
has been completed. 

 Performance Monitoring - The system will facilitate better performance 
monitoring against service management performance targets. It will store 
the history to every job allowing the team to better understand where 
street cleansing resources need to be deployed. 

 Assets will be mapped - The system will allow for assets such as litter bins 
to be mapped and assigned an asset number. This will allow the team to 
have a more consistent record of street cleansing assets and their history 
rather than the current excel spreadsheet which only lists the locations of 
all the bins.

2.3 The implementation of the system has reached the testing and data collection 
phase. 

2.4 The specifications to enable the automation of the different work packs was 
submitted to Bartec in Summer 2021.  Officers have since been provided with an 
initial version of the system on our test platform. 

2.5 Officers have been rigorously testing the automation that has been created by 
Bartec and have sent back a number of required changes which are being dealt 
with. The changes will then be tested again, which may warrant further 
amendments to the platform by Bartec.

Page 12



3

2.6 The Waste Management Team are yet to complete back-office training, but this 
will follow the final sign-off of the automation work. 

2.7 The collation of asset data (waste & recycling bins etc.) is being carried out by the 
Street Cleansing Manager and Business Apprentice (Waste & Transport) and is 
about 80% completed.  

2.8 Work schedules are also being compiled simultaneously so that when the 
automation is complete and is fully functional, the work packs for the Operatives 
can go live.

2.9 It is anticipated that the fly-tipping clearances and bulky waste collection element 
of the system will go live by February 2022 and the remainder of the functions will 
go live by April 2022.

3. Litter Bin Fill-Level Sensors

3.1 A 12-month trial of Enevo bin fill-level sensors will begin imminently.

3.2 The bin sensors and the accompanying ‘predictive routing’ technology will 
optimise staff productivity, prevent overflowing bins, minimise customer 
complaints and reduce the mileage travelled to empty bins that are not optimally 
full. 

3.3 The dynamic routing system will prioritise emptying the fullest bins first to ensure 
that the bins do not overflow.  This helps to ensure that bins are only emptied 
when necessary and helps to reduce fuel consumption and CO2 emissions.

3.4 The litter bin sensors will be trialled in a number of applications:

 The Team 5 (rural) street cleansing round, covering approximately 70 bins 
will trial the majority of the sensors as this team’s vehicle currently covers 
the largest distance to service the bins, which with the current emptying 
arrangement are not always full when the emptying round is made.

 The large 1100L general waste and recycling housings installed in our 
parks and open spaces will trial ten of the sensors.  This will mean that the 
Waste Management Team can monitor the use of the bins seasonally; the 
general waste fill-rate compared to the recycling fill-rate, and; will ensure 
the efficient deployment of refuse vehicles to service these bins in order to 
minimise fuel consumption and CO2 emissions. 

 The final twenty sensors will be deployed to litter bins in urban locations 
that have historically generated complaints.  This will enable the Street 
Cleansing Manager to monitor the fill-rate of these bins so that the data 
can be analysed to assess the bin capacity and emptying frequency in 
these locations to ensure that in the future the bins do not get overfilled.

3.5 Officers have compiled the data required by Enevo to log and map the relevant 
assets for the purposes of the trial.  

3.6 Enevo have built the ‘HUB Platform’ required to operate the back-office system.

Page 13



4

3.7 The delivery of the sensors was delayed by the global shortage of the semi-
conductors required.  The litter bin sensors were installed in December 2021.

3.8 A training session and demonstration of Gravesham’s HUB Platform took place in 
December 2021. 

3.9 The trial has commenced with the sensors monitoring our current operational 
practices to discern baseline data in January 2022.  Some screenshots of 
Gravesham’s HUB Platform can be seen below.

Page 14



5

3.10 In February 2022 Enevo will analyse the baseline data collected in order to 
suggest data-driven strategies to deliver operational efficiencies.  

3.11 The Street Cleansing Manager will then use the predictive technology in the ‘HUB 
Platform’ to provide Operatives with routed daily emptying schedules to optimise 
efficiency. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

      None.

Page 15



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste on public land. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Bartec Street Cleansing Module has been funded as part of the 2021/22 
Capital Programme and is due to be implemented in Q4.
Once the trial of the Litter Bin Fill-Level Sensors has completed a business case 
will be prepared based on the results and success of this trial.  Any requests for 
additional funding required will be made using the existing channels.

Risk Assessment The projects contained within this report are designed to improve service delivery 
and impact directly in the aims of the Corporate Plan.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks.

Climate Change Priority 1 (GBC - The Organisation): The implementation of dynamic routing to 
prioritise emptying the fullest bins will ensure that bins are only emptied when 
necessary in order to reduce fleet fuel consumption and CO2 emissions.

Crime and Disorder Community safety - a clean environment helps to reduce the likelihood of littering 
and other anti-social behaviours.

Digital and website 
implications

Current there no implications, however, as the systems are embedded within the 
service, there may be opportunities to link some of these acitivites to the Council's 
website such as the mapping of the litter bins.

Page 16

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 8th February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Waste Communication Campaigns Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update regarding current and upcoming waste and recycling 
education campaigns.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Overview

1.1 A Communications Plan is updated and shared with the Communications Team 
every three months.  This approach enables collaborative work towards delivering 
the required waste and recycling education campaigns.  The next update is due in 
early 2022.

1.2 Following the delivery of new, bespoke town centre and parks & open spaces anti-
littering campaigns in the Spring and Summer of 2021, further anti-littering 
campaigns have been developed to tailor the messaging in different parts of the 
borough.

1.3 Work has also been undertaken continue to educate residents about recycling 
correctly to minimise contamination.  Work has also been undertaken to prepare 
to withdraw excess refuse waste collections that have been permitted since the 
COVID-19 pandemic began in March 2020; while our recycling performance has 
improved, gains in recycling tonnage have been tempered by having no 
restrictions on the amount of refuse collected from properties in place.

2. GBC Anti-Littering Campaigns

2.1 Historically, anti-littering campaigns within Gravesham have communicated the 
same generic message across the borough.

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 In the Spring and Summer of 2021, a bespoke campaign was developed for the 
town centre, with specific messages applicable to the town centre environment 
and the cleansing issues that arise there.  The parks & open spaces campaign 
was also refreshed with specific messages for users of parks & open spaces.

2.3 Further bespoke campaigns have been developed for the rural parts of the 
borough as well as specific locations in Northfleet; namely The Hive, The Hill and 
Perry Street.

2.4 The intention is to give residents and visitors to these locations a warm welcome, 
that they will take a pride in their local area but also to remind them of their 
responsibilities.

2.4.1 New Rural Campaign

         

Page 20



3

2.5 New Northfleet Campaigns

         

Page 21



4

3. GBC Targeted Letter Drops

3.1 Targeted letter drops pertaining to street sweeping and waste services information 
have been trialled on the Dickens Estate.

3.2 Following positive resident engagement in response to a road sweeping letter 
which requested that residents move their vehicles on a set day at a set time, a 
follow-up waste information letter was delivered to all properties the Dickens 
Estate, in conjunction with the Housing Team.  The letter provides the waste 
collection day, useful links and information about waste services.  

Page 22



5

3.3 Not only does this type of letter provide residents with the correct information to 
manage their waste responsibly, it will also lead to cleaner streets as rubbish is 
disposed of properly and the streets particularly those that are heavily parked can 
be cleaned more effectively.  It is hoped that this type of letter drop will be trialled 
at Denton in early 2022.

4. GBC Excess Waste Bin Hanger

4.1 Since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, excess refuse has been 
collected from all Gravesham residents owing to the increase in waste generated 
at home during the national lockdowns.

4.2 With schools re-opening and many residents returning to work, an excess waste 
bin hanger has been designed to be implemented from February 2022 (subject to 
any changes made to national work-from-home guidance) to limit the amount of 
refuse that can be put out on a fortnightly basis to what can be contained in a 
standard 180 litre wheeled bin.

4.3 The bin hanger will encourage residents to ensure that they are recycling as much 
as they can in order to minimise the volume of residual waste required to go in 
their refuse bin.  By recycling more, the borough’s recycling rate should increase 
so improving service efficiency as well as cleaner streets.

Page 23



6

5. Pumpkin Rescue Campaign

5.1 The Kent Resource Partnership and Kent districts once again supported the 
seasonal ‘Pumpkin Rescue’ campaign for Halloween in October 2021.  Short 
animations and videos, as can be seen below, were shared with residents on the 
Council’s corporate social media channels.

6. KRP Contamination Campaign

6.1 The Kent Resource Partnership and Kent districts ran a new ‘Did You Know?’ 
recycling contamination campaign throughout November 2021, which was shared 
with residents through the Council’s corporate social media channels.

           

Page 24



7

6.2 The campaign complements the work of Officers to tackle recycling contamination 
- since September 2021, in excess of 630 properties in Gravesham have received 
educational letters offering advice and support when their recycling bins were 
marked as contaminated by Waste Crews.  

6.3 Properties with contaminated bins are collated in an automated, daily report.  
Officers then use the GOV.UK Notify system to generate and send letters to the 
relevant properties. 

6.4 If the recycling bin at the same property is contaminated again within a six-month 
period, Officers are alerted by a DASH report, enabling them to provide residents 
at the property with a pictorial leaflet, or an educational visit if required.

7. KRP Pledge2Recycle Plastics Campaign

7.1 Officers have been engaging with the Kent Resource Partnership, RECOUP (a 
plastics recycling charity) and other Kent councils to deliver the Pledge2Recycle 
Plastics community education programme.  

7.2 The plastics recycling education project has been running throughout Kent from 
the summer of 2021 through to the spring of 2022.  

7.3 The project aims to minimise confusion about plastics recycling in order to 
minimise contamination and increase plastics recycling.  Residents will also be 
encouraged to reduce, reuse and recycle plastics as much as possible.

7.4 An educational advertisement has been included in the Autumn edition of Your 
Borough.

7.5 Representatives from RECOUP arranged a stall at Sainsburys at Pepperhill on 
28th July to directly engage with residents.  Residents and Parish Councils have 
also been engaged through focus groups and questionnaires have been shared 
with residents on social media.

7.6 Two roller-banner displays have been obtained for display in the Civic Centre 
reception, as can be seen in the image below.

Page 25



8

Page 26



9

7.7 The leaflet shown below will be delivered to all Gravesham households between 
February and March 2022.

                  

7.8 Pledge2Recycle Plastics have also provided crew cards which have 
complemented the Waste Management Team’s own FAQ sheet for front line 
operatives.  

7.9 Posters have been put up and leaflets have been made available at the Civic 
Centre and at the Brookvale Depot.  

Page 27



10

8. Flats Recycling Signage

8.1 To support residents in understanding the new food waste recycling service and to 
educate residents about what should be put into recycling bins and what should 
not be put into them, new bin stickers and leaflets have been prepared, as 
outlined in an earlier report.

8.2 A Kent-wide flats recycling project is being undertaken by the Kent Resource 
Partnership (KRP) in which new signage was provided to be trialled in bin store 
areas.

8.3 The signage provided to GBC was installed at Admiral Beatty House in October 
2021 and is intended to clearly differentiate the refuse and recycling areas of the 
bin store, as well as educating residents about what to do with bulky waste items.

8.4 Images of the signage and stickers in-situ can be seen below.

Page 28



11

8.5 The KRP, Officers and KCC are working with BLUEPRINT (Blueprint to a Circular 
Economy) to develop a recycling survey to get feedback from residents in all Kent 
districts regarding their attitude towards recycling and how they perceive their bin 
store areas.

9. School Engagement

9.1 After initial contact regarding other initiatives, in December 2021 Officers were 
invited to attend two local schools to deliver educational sessions to students.

Page 29



12

9.2 An Officer attended Northfleet School for Girls to lead a session to a group of 
Sixth Form students about electronic waste in Kent.

9.3 Two Officers attended Tymberwood Academy to deliver four assemblies about 
Gravesham’s recycling service, reaching approximately 400 pupils.

9.4 The sessions were pitched to the relevant age group and explained what recycling 
is, why it is important, what bins we have in Gravesham, what should go in each 
bin, as well as how to recycle as much as possible over the Christmas period.  
Each assembly included a waste sorting game that was very engaging for the 
pupils, some images of which can be seen below.

             

9.5 Wherever possible, Officers will seek to engage with local schools and local 
groups to deliver educational talks in the community.

9.6 Officers will also seek to deliver a similar presentation to the Gravesham Youth 
Council.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS

       None.

Page 30



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter.  The Council also has a duty to arrange for the collection of household 
waste premises.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There is no adverse impact on the MTFP in relation to the activity proposed in this 
report for the following reasons;
The cost of the proposed Bin Hangers is to be met from additional income received 
under the IAA agreement with KCC due to better than expected recycling 
performance in 2020/21.
The cost of leafletting all households in February 2022 will be met by The Kent 
Resource Partnership.
By improving the borough’s recycling performance, the council will be entitled to 
additional funding from KCC under the aforementioned scheme as savings are 
shared between the two authorities.

Risk Assessment The communication campaigns detailed within this report are designed to improve 
service delivery and impact directly in the aims of the Corporate Plan.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Priority 3 (GBC - The Community Leader): Public education to reuse and recycle in 
the correct way.  The campaigns and initiatives outlined in this report will continue 

Page 31

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


14

to educate residents about recycling correctly to minimise contamination, while 
reducing residual waste tonnages.
By residents managing their waste more effectively and reducing flytipping this will 
have a positive effect the local environment.  It will mean the street cleansing 
service can be better planned rather than having to be reactive to ad-hoc reports of 
flytipping.  This will allow for better route planning and efficient service provision so 
reducing vehicle miles and associated carbon emissions.

Crime and Disorder Community safety - a clean environment helps to reduce the likelihood of littering 
and other anti-social behaviours.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 32


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Street Cleansing Digitisation Update
	6 Waste Communication Campaigns Update

